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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 
Elm Grove is an early Republican domestic complex northeast of Courtland in South-

hampton County. The main house is a two-story, six-bay frame building clad with beaded 
weatherboards and set on a Flemish-bond underpinning. At the south end, two exterior 
Flemish-bond brick chimneys with three-course-American-bond bases and tiled weatherings 
mark the end of the original section (A & Bin attached floor plan) of the house, while 
at the north end an exterior three-course-American-bond chimney serves the early 19th­
century addition. Nine-over-nine sash are used on the first story and 6/6 sash on the 
secon~ and all of the windows have molded sills and louvred blinds. The main block is 
covered with a gable roof trimmed with a box cornice. 

' • . •I. 

Off the·southeast corner of the main section-is-a square, one~story, one-bay frame 
wing (E) with a gable roof, 2/2 sash, and plain weatherboarding. Set.on piers and 
decorated with louvred blinds,·it was.erected.ca. 1884 and was used as an insurance 
office by the present owner's father. A small one-story front porch with plain Doric 
columns was enlarged at this time and now stretches from the office wing to the front 
door of the main house. Surviving on the porch are a pair of plank benches with double­
ogee pedestals; these are traditional early 19th-century porch furnishings in the area. 

Off the west end of an original ell (raised in the late 19th century to two stories) 
is a one-story frame kitchen (F), square in plan, with 6/6 sash and a low gable roof. 
It is connected to the main block by a formerly open porch and a small closet. 

The plan of Elm Grove is relatively simple, although its evolution has been complex. 
As near as can be determined, the house was originally a one-room building, one-story 
high, with a lean-to behind. This original one-room-and-lean-to building forms the 
present south room of the main block and the first-floor bedroom just west of it. 
Probably built in the late 18th century, this house had a stair in the northwest corner 
of the main room and two rooms in the lean-to. In the mid-19th century, the stair 
apparently was removed from the main room, but another which ascends from the lean-to 
was put in its place. At that time the lean-to partition was moved north to enclose the 
stair. Circa 1820 an addition was made to the north of the original house. This two­
story wing contained a stair passage and another large parlor, thus giving the house its 
present six-bay. first-floor facade and single-pile, central-passage plan. In the mid-
19th century, a second story was built over the original south room. 

The decoration in the main block is of very high quality but is not elaborate. The 
original main (south) room is treated with recessed-panel wainscot broken out under the 
windows. The mantel consists of attenuated fluted Roman Doric pilasters set on high 
bases and supporting a molded shelf broken over their caps. A single rectangular recessed ' 
panel occupies the frieze. In the lean-to room, similar recessed-panel wainscoting is 
employed, but it was rearranged slightly when the partition was moved to its present 
position. Original graining survives on the north exterior door. The mantel here has an 
architrave surround and a plain unsupported shelf. In the added passage, recessed-panel 
wainscot with a pedestal chair rail is used and is carried up the open-string stair. 
This stair has a molded rail similar to the surviving original portions of the front 
porch rail, a square newel, two rectangular balusters to a tread, scalloped brackets, and 
recessed spandrel panels. Mid-19th-century graining survives on all of the hall woodwork, 
but the inside of the raised-panel, stair closet door retains earlier mahogany graining 
with a painted inlay band on each panel. A 19th-century lantern hangs from its original 
ceiling hook. 

(See Continuation Sheet f/1) 
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The wainscoting in the north parlor is similar to that in the passage. The mantel 
here consists of two freestanding Doric colonnettes with banded necking, supporting a 
thin molded shelf and flanking a rectangular recessed frieze panel. The window and door 
frames are reeded and have bull's-eye paterae. Interesting early fittings include the 
small shelves for supporting a mirror base, which survive between the front and the rear 
windows. 

Three noteworthy early outbuildings survive. Directly north of the house is a 
single-story, one-cell frame building probably erected as an office and used at the turn 
of the century as a school. It has a recessed-panel mantel, a chairboard, and a five­
course-American-bond chimney. The nails and the chimney suggest that this building was 
erected at about the time the house was enlarged. West of the house is a frame dairy 
with a gable roof, beaded weatherboards, and louvred ventilator above the door on the 
front. At the rear, the ventilator is formed of three horizontal muntins. This building 
is original to the first part of the house, or very close to that date. 

Most interesting is the smokehouse which stands northwest of the house. This low, 
square building has saddle-notched round log walls and encloses four srnokepits. This is 
the only known early example of a multiple-pit smokehouse in Virginia. The high gables 
are clad in beaded weatherboards fastened with wrought nails, and it seems certain that 
the structure is at least as old as the house and may antedate it slightly. A 20th­
century shed shelters the front of this building. 

South of the house is a late 19th- or early 20th-century, gable-roofed frame shed. 
In it is stored the farm's 19th-century cotton gin, which formerly was housed in another 
structure which stood near the road northeast of the house. 

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION 

The register bounds are a small rectangle bounded on the southeast by the road and 
on the other three sides by the fences which enclose the domestic outbuildings. 
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Elm Grove is an important vernacular domestic complex probably begun by the Williams 
family in the lste 18th century and enlarged and improved by its subsequent·owners. In 
its original form, 'the house was representative of a group of small dwellings built in 
southern Virgii1ia in' the period of' .the early Republic. - · Its ·19th-century additions· and 
its outbuildings, particularly the rare multi-pit log smokehouse> add to its interest as 
an artifact of two hundred years of rural life in Southampton County. 

The tract now known as Elm Grove was left to Isaac Williams by his father,Jonah 
Williams in 1771. After Isaac Willialll$'sdeath in 1788, the property remained in his 
estate until 1803, when 342 acres of his land were transferred to his son Edwin. It is 
likely that the original one-room-with-two-room-lean-to house was erected during the 
son's tenure. It is a house form popular among relatively well-off planters in the area 
from the late 18th century until the second quarter of the 19th century. Along with the 
small house, Williams built a large log smokehouse (and probably other, now vanished, 
outbuildings as well). No other smokehouses of this size, structural material and 
configuration (four smokepits) are known in Southside Virginia. Indeed, very few smoke­
houses of any type that are this old have survived. 

After Edwin Williair$ 1 sdeath in 1811, the estate was divided among several heirs, all 
of whom soon sold their portions to Richard and Oswin Ricks, a father and son, respectively. 
The father purchased the 3/4-acre house lot, and a year later gave his son this tract 
"whereon the dwelling house stands." By 1820, when the land tax books first listed building 
valuation separately, Oswin Ricks's buildings were assessed at $1,500. Thus the main 
block in its larger form would date from.no later than 1820. There was no change in the 
valuation of the tract until 1852, when a rise in value of $50 was recorded, possibly 
accounting for the construction of an office/schoolhouse and for the second story added to 
the original section. Another $200 addition in 1872 may account for the kitchen, and a 
$600 increase in 1884 is certainly the result of the office addition to the southeast corner 
of the main block. 

In 1832 Oswin Ricks sold the property to Dr. Robert Murray, an Irish-born physician. 
Tradition states that Murray operated a school at Elm Grove at mid-century, a belief 
substantiated by the 1850 census which lists fourteen girls and two boys (in addition to 
the Murrays's own six children) residing at the house at that time. Murray sold the 
property to William w. Briggs in 1858. In 1887 Lucius Manry, father of the present owner, 
bought Elm Grove. 
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

Beginning at a point on NW side of Route 646 approximately 700' SW of the intersection of 
said route with a NW tributary of Nottoway Swamp; thence extending 400' SW along said side 
of said route; thence extending about 200' NW along fenceline, then about 400' NE along 
fenceline, then about 200' SE along fenceline to NW side of Route 646, point of origin. 
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